

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY

STAFF REPORT

To:CouncilFrom:City Manager (CAO)Subject:Comox Valley Aquatic Service Needs Strategy Draft Report

File No.: 7710-05 Date: January 11, 2023

PURPOSE:

The Outdoor Memorial Pool & Aquatic Services Study has been identified as a 2021-2022 Strategic Priority. The purpose of this staff report is to present to Council the Aquatic Service Strategy Draft Report for information.

CAO RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. THAT the Draft Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy (Attachment 1) be received for information and Council direct staff to proceed with posting the draft report for public engagement and feedback.

Geoff Garbutt, M.PL., MCIP, RPP City Manager (CAO)

BACKGROUND:

City and Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD) Staff continue to work with RC Strategies & HCMA in the development of the Aquatic Services Strategy.

The final Comox Valley Aquatic Service Needs Strategy draft report (the report) will achieve two key deliverables:

- 1. Development of a 10 year aquatic services implementation strategy that takes into consideration aquatic services in the Comox Valley over a 25 year time frame; and
- 2. Conduct an options analysis for the renewal, replacement, or relocation of either or both the CVRD Sports Pool, and, the Courtenay and District Memorial Outdoor Pool.

At the July 25th, 2022 meeting, Council received for information the What We Heard (WWH) report supported by a presentation by RC Strategies and HCMA. A summary of the WWH findings are identified below:

- Aquatics facilities are well used and valued.
- Ensure all members can use the pools, which includes facility scheduling, public transportation and admission costs.
- Accessibility and inclusivity is important to consider.
- There is a desire for new or improved aquatic amenities (e.g. dedicated lanes, therapy and socialization, beach entry, play amenities).
- The Comox Valley Aquatic Centre received the highest levels of satisfaction.
- Aquatics facilities should be able to accommodate all users.

DISCUSSION:

With the 1st phase of the study complete, the consultant has prepared the attached draft Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy. The report draws upon the information provided by the community engagement process and furthers it by considering the following areas:

- Benefits of the different types of aquatic services and activities offered by both indoor and outdoor pools.
- Operating a pool as close to full capacity as reasonably possible from an economic and environmental sustainability point of view.
- Current level of aquatic services in the Comox Valley
- Aquatic trends in aquatic strategies: equity and inclusion, sustainability, health and safety and participation trends.
- Projected demand for aquatic services in the Comox Valley.

The vision for determining recommendations are identified but are not limited to the following:

- No overall increase in water area/capacity is required.
- Desire for enhanced leisure and wellness experiences.
- New/better facilities will respond to some latent demand and increase annual swims marginally.
- Alignment with universal accessibility requirements.
- Alignment with broader environmental sustainability objectives and corporate climate action plans.

The key evaluation criteria for evaluating and prioritizing the various options and assigned prioritized weightings are summarized below.

Staff Report – January 11, 2023

Comox Valley Aquatic Service Needs Strategy Draft Report

Princip	le and Criteria	Criteria Weighting
1.	Community Health and Well-being	1
2.	Environmental Sustainability and Mitigation	2
3.	Accessible and Inclusive	
	3. a) Equitable distribution and access	2
	3. b) Proximity to public transit	3
4.	Service Excellence	
	4. a) Service quality	4
	4. b) supports regional growth	2
5.	Financial Responsibility/Sustainability	
	5. a) Project Capital Cost	5
	5. b) Operating Cost	3
	5. c) Asset life expectancy	3
	5. d) Future expansion capability	1
	5. e) Land ownership	2

The following pool capital investment options are provided the draft report:

Option	Description	Estimated Capital Budget	Prioritization Score
1. Status Quo	 No changes to existing locations Outdoor pool & change rooms end of life and needs capital investment Sports Centre and Aquatic Centre require capital renewal investment 	 Total \$16.5 M: \$1 M (Outdoor Pool) \$7.5 M (Sport Centre) \$8.0 M (Aquatic Centre) 	51 – Outdoor Pool 62 – Indoor Pool
2. Consolidation at Aquatic Centre Site	Outdoor pool and Sports CV Aquatic Centre	Centre Pool replaced as addi	tions to existing

Staff Report – January 11, 2023

Comox Valley Aquatic Service Needs Strategy Draft Report

Page 4 of 7

2.A	+ Wellness Expansion at CV Aquatic Centre	\$25.8 M	76
2.B	 + Outdoor Pool Expansion at CV Aquatic Centre 	\$12 M	78
2.C	 +Wellness and Outdoor Pool Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre 	\$35 M	82
3. Build Out At New Site	 New facility at new site (consolidation of all 3 existing pools) 	\$87.9 M (does not include cost of new site)	76
4. New Outdoor Pool	New outdoor pool at nev	v site or existing site	
4. A	 New Outdoor pool at new site 	\$16.1 M (does not include cost of new site)	65
4. B	New Outdoor pool at existing site	\$18.2 M	56

The Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy provides for the following recommendations:

- Recommended #1 Indoor Pool Option: Wellness Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (2A weighted score 77)
- Recommended #2 Outdoor Pool Option: Outdoor Pool Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (2B – weighted score 78)
- Recommended #3 Combined Indoor / Outdoor Pool Option: Wellness and Outdoor Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (2C weighted score 82)
- Wellness and Outdoor Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (Option 2C) is the recommended option. According to the report, it confers the most benefits to the CVRD, the City, the region's residents, and to the environment. It also supports all five priorities of the Comox Valley Recreation Commission and the City of Courtenay Strategic Priorities.

<u>Next Steps</u>

Should Council direct staff to proceed with posting the draft report to receive public comment and feedback, the draft report will be posted on both the CVRD and City websites between Jan 16th to Feb 3rd, 2023.

A final report has been tentatively scheduled to be presented to Council at the March 8th, 2023 Council meeting that will include a summary of the feedback received from the public.

Other considerations

After staff reviewed initial drafts of the report, City staff and CVRD staff discussed one additional option that may be considered: a new outdoor pool and pool change rooms located in the existing location.

Initially, that option was not identified to reflect recommendations from the City of Courtenay based on the Dike Replacement Flood Management Strategy which included the managed retreat and naturalization of the floodplain. However, further discussion with internal City staff and CVRD, staff has brought forth the consideration of a new pool at the existing location that could be designed to accommodate future flood events. Staff have discussed this option with RC Strategies and HCMS and the draft report has been amended with an additional option: 4 B - new outdoor pool and change room building on the existing site at 489 Old Island Highway. However, this option has its limitations with the existing outdoor pool located in the floodplain. There would be impacts to the surrounding existing infrastructure (parking, spray park, riverside trail, and connection to the Lewis Centre) in order to meet requirements outlined in the Floodplain Management Bylaw. No. 1743.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

The final cost implications will be further detailed in a future staff report supporting the final recommendation for the preferred option. Details regarding estimated capital and operating costs will need to be further developed in the implementation phase of the strategy which is subject to:

- 1. Council's endorsement of the preferred option;
- 2. Further discussion between the CVRD and the City

ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:

The Recreation, Culture and Community Services (RCCS) department will continue to work in partnership with the CVRD to finalize the report after receiving community feedback.

ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS:

The Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy will provide key recommendations to inform an asset management plan for the outdoor pool, which may include asset lifecycle costs, renewal program, and the required long-term financial plan to support the intended established level of service.

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:

The Outdoor Memorial Pool & Aquatic Services Study has been identified as a 2021-2022 Strategic Priority

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:

Four Cardinal Directions							
Reconciliation		Climate Action	<	Community Well-Being	~	Equity	<
Thematic Policies							
Streets and Transportation				Buildings and Landscapes	~		
Parks and Recreation	~			Municipal Infrastructure	~		
Food Systems				Local Economy			
Affordable Housing				Natural Environment			
Social Infrastructure	<			Arts, Culture, and Heritage			

Comox Valley Aquatic Service Needs Strategy Draft Report

REGIONAL GROWTH STRATEGY REFERENCE:

CVRD Regional Growth Strategy Goals:							
Housing		Ecosystems, Natural Areas and Parks		Local economic development		Transportation	
Infrastructure	~	Food Systems		Public Health & Safety	~	Climate Change	~

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT:

Staff	would i	nform the	public based	d on the Increasi	IAP2 Spect	trum of Public	Participation:
		Inform	Consult	Involve	Collaborate	Empower	
	Public participation goal	To provide the public with balanced and objective information to assist them in understanding the problem, alternatives, opportunities and/or solutions.	To obtain public feedback on analysis, alternatives and/or decisions.	To work directly with the public throughout the process to ensure that public concerns and aspirations are consistently understood and considered.	To partner with the public in each aspect of the decision including the development of alternatives and the identification of the preferred solution.	To place final decision-making in the hands of the public.	

© International Association for Public Participation www.iap2.org

OPTIONS:

OPTION 1: THAT the Draft Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy (Attachment 1) be received for information and Council direct staff to proceed with posting the draft report for public engagement and feedback.

(Recommended)

OPTION 2: THAT Council identify any concerns or questions and refer the matter back to staff and collaborate with the CVRD and the consultant for further consideration.

Prepared by:

K

Joy Chan Manager of Business Administration

Page 7 of 7

Reviewed by:

Craig Rushton Interim Director Recreation, Culture and Community Services

Concurrence by:

- A Hatt

Geoff Garbutt, M.PL., MCIP, RPP

City Manager (CAO)

Attachment 1: Draft Comox Valley Aquatic Services Needs Strategy – dated January 4, 2023









Comox Valley Aquatic Needs Strategy Draft – January 2023

Prepared For:

Comox Valley Regional District

City of Courtenay

Comox Valley Recreation Commission

Prepared By:

RC Strategies

hcma

DRAFT MATERIAL

Confidential – Not for Public Distribution

Land Acknowledgement

We respectfully acknowledge that the land we gather on is on the Unceded traditional territory of the K'ómoks First Nation, the traditional keepers of this land.

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY	4
1.1 Why do we need an Aquatic Strategy?	4
1.2 Who is involved in the project?	4
1.3 How has information been collected, and input gathered?	5
1.4 How do we critically look at the public provision of aquatics?	6
Indoor Aquatic Activity Types	6
Outdoor Aquatic Activity Types	11
1 E How poes the public provision of a quarter penerit a community?	12
2. PUBLIC AQUATICS IN THE COMOX VALLEY	14
	16
2.2 COMMUNITY CONTEXT	21
2.3 AQUATIC TRENDS	24
2.4 ASSESSMENT OF CURRENT SUPPLY AND DEMAND FOR AQUATIC SERVICES	26
Determining Capacity	26
Characteristics of Current Aquatics Services and Spaces	27
Projecting Demand for Aquatic Services	30
Conclusions About Supply vs Demand for Aquatic Services	30
3. PROJECTED DEMAND FOR AQUATIC SERVICES	32
4. A RECOMMENDED AQUATIC STRATEGY FOR THE COMOX VALLEY	33
5. INFRASTRUCTURE/CAPITAL PROJECT OPTIONS FOR THE FUTURE	34
5.1 CAPITAL OPTIONS	34
5.2 Summary of Capital Options	42
6. DECISION MAKING FRAMEWORK TO PRIORITIZE OPTIONS	48
6.1 Principles and Evaluation Criteria	48
6.2 SCORING THE OPTIONS AND CALCULATING PRIORITY SCORES	51
7. RECOMMENDATIONS	52
RECOMMENDATION #1 – INDOOR POOL OPTIONS	52
RECOMMENDATION #2 – OUTDOOR POOL OPTIONS	52
RECOMMENDATION #3 – INDOOR AND OUTDOOR POOL OPTIONS	52
8. IMPLEMENTING THE STRATEGY	53
GLOSSARY	55
APPENDIX A – CURRENT STATE OF COMMUNITY POOLS	56
Courtenay Outdoor Pool	56
Comox Valley Sports Centre	56
Comox Valley Aquatic Centre	57
APPENDIX B – COMMUNITY DEMOGRAPHICS	58
APPENDIX C – CALCULATING ANNUAL CAPACITY OF POOLS IN THE COMOX VALLEY	61
APPENDIX D – SCORING OF PROJECT OPTIONS	63

1. Introduction and methodology

1.1 Why do we need an Aquatic Strategy?

The Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD) and the City of Courtenay enrich the lives of Valley residents and visitors through the provision of three aquatics facilities. The Comox Valley Sports Centre, Comox Valley Aquatic Centre, and the Courtenay and District Memorial Outdoor Pool have provided opportunities for residents of the region to learn to swim, improve their health and fitness, train and compete in water sports, and socialize. Due in part to the condition of the facilities as well as changes in the community, and changing demands from the public and groups, the CVRD and City commissioned the development of an Aquatics Strategy. The Strategy will serve as a road map, guiding the provision of aquatic facilities and services for the next 25 years.

The Aquatic Strategy will:

- Define the vision for aquatic facilities and services for the Comox Valley.
- Support the equitable access to facilities and services for all residents. •
- Encourage increasing capacity and participation in water sports and activities.
- Ensure the efficient and effective use of resources.
- Render the aquatic infrastructure as environmentally friendly as possible.

1.2 Who is involved in the project?

The project is a partnership of two local public entities that own and operate the existing aquatic infrastructure and a consulting team retained to provide expertise. It also includes a great many local citizens and organizations that provided input to the process, as illustrated in Figure One.

Figure 1: Project Contributors and Collaborators











1.3 How has information been collected, and input gathered?

The Comox Valley Aquatic Needs Strategy has been developed based on a broad research and engagement program, which included architectural assessment to support the emerging priorities and aquatic needs in the Comox Valley (as illustrated in Figure Two). The Strategy development began with extensive learning about the current state of aquatic services in the Valley related to infrastructure, programming and service provision. The research component was complemented by a thorough engagement of residents and community collaborators and contributors.

Once the current state was defined, a strategic analysis was conducted to assess current gaps in the current system and identifying opportunities to best meet the aquatic needs of current and future Valley residents. Focus was placed on enhancing the current state to confer the most benefit from investment in aquatic services to the Regional District, the City, and the regions' residents.



Figure 2: Project Inputs and Workflow









1.4 How do we critically look at the public provision of aquatics?

For planning purposes, it is useful to divide the entire realm of available aquatic services into categories based on what motivates or "drives" the use of publicly available pools. By understanding more completely what motivates the use (i.e., which benefits the user hopes to obtain through the use) the types and amounts of aquatic services can be more finely honed and optimized. In other words, the water temperature, depth and configuration of each tank can be more precisely filtered into specific categories of use and the specialty amenities, or features, that can be provided to support each.

Indoor Aquatic Activity Types

Indoor aquatic activities generally fall into one of seven types, with can be further differentiated by whether the level of service provided is 'fundamental' or 'specialized'. For example, most pools can accommodate fundamental recreation and leisure swimming experiences; however, only facilities with specialized amenities such as water slides, dive tanks, and wave pools should be characterized as specialized. The chart below provides an overview of these activity types. More detailed descriptions of each activity type are presented on the pages that follow. A summary of the activity types is contained within Figure Three.

Figure	3:	Indoor	Aquatic	Activity	Types
--------	----	--------	---------	----------	-------

Activity Type		Description		
-		Swimming for fun		
	Recreational and Leisure	Swimming for fun with specialized amenities like waterslides, wave pools, lazy rivers, play equipment, etc.		
r and a second s	Skill Development	Primarily swim lessons, but also other skills taught in lesson format		
X	Fitness	Lane swimming and structured aquacise / fitness classes		
		Aquatic sport club training programs		
	Sport Training	Training requiring specialized amenities such as diving tanks, underwater sound systems, timing systems etc.		
000		Pool rentals, birthday parties		
	Special Events	Swim meets, competitions, major tournaments, etc.		
	Therapy and Rehabilitation	Therapy and rehab for those with varying abilities and those recovering from surgery or injury, zero entry access and some assisted support for access		
		Specialized access systems and therapy/ rehabilitation elements, separate tanks with various water temperatures		
-	Leadership Training	Lifeguard, aquatic instructor training, leadership and development programs		









Recreational and Leisure Swimming

Individuals and groups going to the pool to swim and have fun is one of the most popular activity types, both indoors and outdoors. Motivation for participating in recreational and leisure swimming is often mixed with wanting to be active and healthy, providing some elementary levels of fitness or skill development, and at times respite from weather (cooling in the summer, heat during the winter). For most municipalities, this activity type comprises more than half of all pool visits. Little skill is required to have fun at the pool and this activity type has the fewest barriers to participation and appeals to the broadest cross-section of the public. This activity type is often a user's introduction to aquatic services and should be considered as essential. This category often accommodates drop-in participants, but also rentals (e.g., birthday parties). Due to high participation rates in this activity type, municipal cost per swim is typically the lowest of all activity types. Generally, if specialized amenities or features are provided, users are more inclined to travel greater distances – such as water slides, lazy rivers, wave pools, and aquatic play equipment. While capital costs of these amenities can be significant, enhanced attractiveness for users often offsets these costs over time.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- Is one of the most basic aquatic activity types and should be accommodated at all Comox Valley
 pools; all pools should facilitate at least a fundamental level of recreational and leisure
 swimming.
- Many modern indoor pools incorporate some specialized amenities to enhance facility attractiveness and attract users from a broader catchment area. Amenities may include waterslides, wave pools, surf machines, lazy rivers, and themed aquatic play equipment.
- Recreational and leisure swimming has the fewest barriers to participation and has the widest appeal to users.
- Almost any warm water shallow tank can accommodate recreational and leisure swimming at a fundamental level. Water temperatures of between 28 – 30 degrees Celsius and water less than 1.5 m deep are most appropriate; there are no specific tank size or configuration requirements.
- Specialized amenities often involve moving water (e.g., waves or currents, waterfalls), water based fixed toys or play features, slides or swings, and floatable toys. These features require careful consideration at the program and facility design phase. Specialized amenities could also include design and/or building elements to accommodate user needs such as privacy screens for women only swims and sensory inclusive spaces.

Skill Development

Learning how to swim and water safety skills are fundamental life skills / important to physical literacy. All residents should have at least basic water skills to survive in emergency situations. Swimming skills are typically taught via lessons where students register for a series of swims with an instructor. Often highly regimented with prescribed levels of progression, skill development (i.e., swim lessons) typically begin with water safety basics and expand into higher levels of techniques and skills. The primary market for skill development is children between the ages of 4 to 12, but there are also adults that are interested in honing skills. Most of those registered in swim lessons come to the pool with an adult caregiver that may or may not also be active at the pool. This activity type does not require any specialized support amenities and therefore has a relatively low capital cost and can be accommodated at most facilities.









Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- Skill development, like recreation and leisure swimming, should be considered a fundamental activity type and accommodated at all Comox Valley pools.
- Skill development requires a variety of water depths, ranging from a minimum of approximately 0.3 m to around 1.5 m to accommodate beginner-level instruction, to water more than 1.5 m for more advanced levels of swim instruction and other types of specialized skills (e.g., scuba diving).
- Water temperatures should be in the range of 28 30 degrees Celsius, with warmer temperatures better for children learning to swim. Temperatures should be around 32 34 degrees Celsius for children under 4.
- There are no specific sizes or configurations required for swim tanks, but on-deck storage is often required for some swim aids and there should be enough space to accommodate adult spectators during swim lessons, particularly in areas with line of sight on tanks and in dressing areas to assist their children.

Fitness Swimming

Fitness swimming typically accounts for the third highest volume of swims at municipal pools, behind recreational and leisure and skill development swims. Water based fitness activities are also growing in popularity due to the low-impact nature of participation. Fitness swimming can occur via drop-in through lane swimming or delivered through program as shallow or deep-water fitness classes, with socialization often an added benefit of these types of classes (e.g., aquacise). The primary market for this activity type tends to be adults and seniors, either participating individually or in groups.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- Fitness swimming should be as easily accessible to residents as possible.
- Swim lanes should be between 2 to 2.5 m wide and ideally 25 m long to maintain consistency with swimming standards. Traditionally, the desire to incorporate lanes is what leads to the predominance of rectangular swim tanks; however, lanes are being more creatively integrated into pool designs in wave and leisure pools to not require wholly rectangular tanks.
- Water should be at least 1.2 m deep and deeper, as necessary, to accommodate other activities such as deep water running.
- Vertical walls are required at the end of each lane to support turns.
- Water temperatures should be between 28 30 degrees Celsius, but lower temperatures may be more appropriate for higher intensity activities and specific populations.

Sport Training

Training or league play to enhance competitive skills and abilities is typically provided by non-profit sport organizations (i.e., clubs) that rent pool space. While most participants in sport training are children or youth, higher level competition can extend up to young adults; adult and senior swim and competition clubs are also common. Aquatic sports include speed swimming, water polo, diving, underwater hockey, and synchronized swimming. Most sports require scheduled training times, often multiple times per week, and characterized by relatively few participants. Some sports operate in a team









setting and feature league play (e.g., water polo). Most participants have good knowledge of how to swim prior to registering in an aquatic sport club.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- There are typically not enough users at local levels to support sport training at every municipal pool, but at a broader catchment area (i.e., city-wide) there are often multiple clubs that require access to sport training amenities; therefore, not every municipal facility needs to accommodate sport training, but such service should be available at the city-wide level.
- Higher level sport training requires specialized amenities such as timing systems, scoreboards, underwater acoustic systems, dive tanks, and even large spectator viewing areas if hosting competitions or special events.
- Depending on the sport, sport training can be accommodated in short course (25 m with 6 to 8 lanes, minimum water depth of 1.2 m for speed swimming and deeper for other sports) or long course tanks (50 m with six to 10 lanes). Long course tanks are often required for higher levels of competition.
- Cooler water temperatures in the range of 25 to 28 degrees Celsius are preferred for sport training activities.
- Some sport programs require some dry floor space near or on the pool deck for activities.

Special Events

Special events mostly relate to aquatic events that occur outside the normal activity of a facility or sports organization / club. These events require planning, involve several users and volunteers, and often attract spectators. Special events occur infrequently and often through rentals. They can be multi-day events and often pre-empt other scheduled users of the pool (e.g., swim lessons, public swim). Special events can involve participants of all ages. Swimmers participating in special events typically have advanced skill levels and event type examples include water polo team tournaments, competitions, swim meets, and seasonal championships.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- Smaller special events are generally local or regional in nature and include events such as tournaments organized by a single club or a few clubs and range from one to three days in duration, involving a few dozen to a few hundred participants, and attracting a few dozen to a few hundred spectators. Seating and viewing areas are important for events of all scales.
- Larger special events require more detailed planning and specialized amenities and are more likely to be hosted at a city or region-wide scale. Large events involve more participants, require support personnel (paid or unpaid), and may attract media and significant spectator numbers. These events are often multi-day and can be part of multi-sport events, as well as can be national or international in scope.
- To host larger events or national/international events, facilities must adhere to standards set by governing bodies (e.g., Swimming Canada, FINA).
- Larger special events require particular attention to be paid to things such as tank size and depth, water temperatures, timing systems, diving tanks and platforms, spectator viewing requirements, warm up areas, participant marshalling areas, and other amenities.
- Deeper water in the temperature range of 25 to 28 degrees Celsius are often appropriate for most special events.









• FINA (Federation Internationale de Natation) provides technical guidance on indoor aquatics <u>facility design requirements</u> to host national and international-level swim competitions and other special events for swimming, diving, water polo, and artistic swimming.

Therapy and Rehabilitation

Water buoyancy provides an excellent medium for activity and exercise for people with varying abilities and those recovering from illness, injury, or surgery. Water activities are low-impact and do not place undue stress on the body's joints, making aquatics an excellent therapeutic and rehabilitation exercise. As users age, water tends to become more of an attractive medium for exercise. Specific skills or abilities are not required to participate in therapy and rehabilitation activities and such activities can be organized (e.g., programmed classes), occur one-on-one with an instructor, occur via drop in, or through rentals where a third party provides instruction.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- Most fundamental therapy and rehabilitation swims can be accommodated in pools that cater to other activity types.
- More specialized access systems and amenities that provide enhanced therapy and rehabilitation services should be accessible at a city-wide level, rather than at each facility.
- Facility requirements for fundamental service levels are minimal, with warm water in the range of 32 to 35 degrees Celsius and shallow water (less than 1.5 m). Water temperatures requirements do vary by condition, with those with Multiple Sclerosis requiring a lower water temperature in the range of 27 to 29 degrees Celsius.
- Facility requirements for specialized service levels are more complex, with special attention required for dressing rooms (e.g., mechanical lifts to beds or chairs), wheelchair water entry access (i.e., ramps or lifts), more circulation space on decks, warmer water temperature, and specialized water depths (e.g., movable depths). Other support amenities such as physical therapy and massage services operating in the same facility are common.

Leadership Training

Aquatic services rely on trained leaders (e.g., instructors, lifeguards). The market for leadership training tends to be teens and young adults, but those of all ages can participate in this activity type. Leadership training is almost always delivered via organized programs such as Bronze Medallion or Bronze Cross. Most municipalities in Canada are experiencing shortages of qualified leaders to maintain service levels and safe facility operation requires that individuals with these skillsets be available. While leader training is typically a small component of facility utilization, it is a vital activity type for aquatic system operation and should be accommodated to the greatest extent possible at each facility. Leadership training courses can be held at any time throughout the year and, during warmer months, can take place in outdoor environments.

Service Provision and Facility Specification Considerations

- This activity type does not need to be accommodated within every facility in the Comox Valley but should be more readily available overall at a city-wide level to encourage more participants.
- A variety of water depths, temperatures, and tank configurations are often required to support leadership training depending on specialization level.









• Some specialized support spaces, such as larger pool decks and off-deck classrooms, are often required to support this activity type.

Outdoor Aquatic Activity Types

While outdoor pools can provide all of the seven categories of aquatic service that indoor pools provide, there are two unique activity functions that apply to outdoor pools, spray parks, and wading pools – water orientation for toddlers and respite from summer heat.

Water Orientation for Toddlers

Prior to learning to swim in structured, organized programs, toddlers should be exposed to water in comfortable, safe environments. Toddler introduction to water can happen both outdoors and indoors and requires no prerequisite skills. Primary orientation usually occurs in warm, shallow water areas with gradual depth increases, either through drop-in activity or through introductory programs. Outdoor pools, wading pools, and spray parks often provide these opportunities. As developing comfort with water is considered a fundamentally basic service, these outdoor amenities should be located as close to residences as possible. Facility specifications to accommodate this activity type include significant areas with warm, shallow water, graduated depth accesses from zero to 0.4 metres, but with no dimensions or configurations of tank or splash pad area required.

Respite from Summer Heat

Unlike water orientation for toddlers that can occur either indoors or outdoors, this activity type is typically accommodated through outdoor facilities during the summertime. Indoor facilities with easy access to secured outdoor environments are also an option for meeting this activity type. Water can be used to cool off on warm summer days and this activity type requires no prerequisite skills. This activity type is provided primarily through drop in opportunities and can be delivered to all age groups. This activity type category is typically delivered at a community level, located as close to potential users and possible, with the only specification for use being warm outdoor temperatures.

Aquatic Service Facility Modes of Use

Similar to other recreation facilities, there are also three modes of pool operation as follows:

- **Drop-in**, where individuals and families decide to visit a facility and swim on a case-by-case basis.
- **Program**, where users pre-commit, through a registration process, to a series of uses that typically involve some instruction or leadership and are scheduled at a predetermined time.
- **Rental**, where a group rents some aquatic space, and then controls the users and uses of that space.

The nine categories of aquatic service are typically accommodated within the three modes of operation as summarized in Figure Four.







Figure 4: Aquatic Modes of Use

	Three Modes of Operation				
Categories of Aquatic Service	Drop-In	Program	Rental		
Recreational Swimming					
Skill Development					
Fitness Swimming					
Sport Training					
Special Events					
Therapy and Rehabilitation					
Leadership Training					
Water orientation					
Respite from heat					

Economics of Pool Operation

Some important economic aspects of the delivery of aquatic services apply to aquatic facility planning.

- The **Capital Cost** of an indoor pool, unlike most other forms of buildings, correlates more directly with the volume of the facility than the floor area. This is because the deeper the water, the more air above the water is typically required, and both water depth and ceiling height are very important and costly considerations when developing an indoor pool; as both require large amounts of mechanical systems (water treatment systems which vary with the volume of water, and HVAC systems for handling highly humid, chemical laden air above the water) associated with those volumes. Two pools with the same floor area can have significantly different construction costs if one has more deep water and higher ceilings than the other.
- The **Capital Cost** of an outdoor pool correlates more directly with the volume of water in the main tank. The deeper the tank, the more it costs to construct and the more mechanical support systems are required to filter and treat the water.
- **Operating Costs** for indoor and outdoor public pools are highly regulated and largely fixed. About 70% of the operating costs of a typical pool are relatively or completely fixed (ie. they don't vary whether there is one person swimming or 40 people swimming in the pool enclosure) and are associated with a minimum number of lifeguarding staff, water quality systems, management staff, insurance, utilities, and staffing a customer service control point; none of which vary directly with the volume of use.
- **Operating Revenues** are almost all variable. In other words, if use increases by 10%, operating revenues go up roughly 10% as the revenue associated with swims in each category of aquatic service is largely constant on a per swim basis.









Because of the previous two points, it is very important, from an economic and environmental sustainability point of view, to operate any pool as close to full capacity as is reasonably possible. A pool operating at a fraction of its total capacity has a high operating cost, a low operating revenue, and a very high net subsidy and energy consumption per swim. A pool operating close to its full capcity has a high operating cost, a high operating revenue, and a much lower net subsidy and energy consumption per swim.

Another way of viewing this relationship is to acknowledge that every additional swim a pool is able to generate will trigger more operating revenue than operating cost and won't increase energy consumption proportionately. That means a regional community should try to size its pools to meet current and short term (i.e. ten years) future needs, and not the needs of the very long term future, as "overbuilding" capacity in the short term to meet long term needs will likely result in operating subsidies per swim that are so high in the short term that they collectively exceed the cost of adding to an existing pool or building another pool far into the future when the community needs it.

All of the above contextual comments are very important in the sizing and configuring of pool spaces and planning for long term aquatic needs. To ensure the right kinds and amounts of aquatic spaces are built it is important to consider:

- the proportion of total aquatic use that will be generated in each of the three modes of operation.
- the proportion of total swims that will be generated in each of the nine categories of aquatic service.
- the total swims that result from the first two bullets above translated into a set of aquatic spaces that will optimally respond to those needs, resisting the temptation to "overbuild" spaces which won't be used for 20 years or more.
- while providing all core aquatic services, attempt to fill gaps in the supply left by other existing pools in the region and not duplicate service in categories which are more specialized and represent fewer swims.
- that as many current aquatic needs are met within a context of the least amount of volume of space.
- that all pools will be operated as close to full capacity as is reasonably possible to avoid unnecessarily high subsidies per swim.

The final few points above need to be considered as decisions about any changes to aquatic service provision.







1.5 How does the public provision of aquatics benefit a community?

Although public aquatic facilities are among the most expensive facilities that a community can provide, almost all communities invest heavily in them because of the tremendous benefits that accrue from their use. These benefits contribute to healthy, active individuals and communities and include:

- Water safety learning how not to drown, one of the most basic of human needs and public services especially for communities close to natural waterways.
- Learning and **improving skills** in swimming, diving and other water sports.
- Fitness and conditioning in a medium that is least consumptive and least **likely to result in injury** because of the buoyancy of the water.
- **Rehabilitation** and **therapy services** to those with varying ability and functional limitations and those recovering from injury or surgery.
- Social opportunities in water or on deck that connect people and reduce feelings of isolation.
- Mixing segments and subsets of the community with an activity that is worldwide and appeals to people of **all ages and abilities**.
- Leadership training for young people.
- Extensive volunteering opportunities.
- Special events that rally **community identity**, spirit and pride.
- **Sport Tourism** opportunities associated with swim competitions.

It is for the above reasons that there is justification in public aquatic swimming facilities to subsidize the operation quite highly. In addition to taxpayers having to contribute to the capital costs of indoor and outdoor pools, the typical recovery rate¹ for a public pool is between 30% and 70%, with taxpayers paying the remainder of the operating costs.

Chart 1: Values and Benefits of Aquatic Services



¹ Recovery rate is the proportion of all operating costs that are recovered from users through user fees. The complement of recovery rate is subsidy rate. They both add to 100%.









Recreation Facilities as Community Hubs

Having recreation amenities located in neighborhood parks and/or offering Recreation facilities with outdoor amenities, such as outdoor pools, playgrounds, parks, tennis courts, and spray parks has been proven to increase social cohesiveness of residents. Being centrally located and accessible, reduces barriers to transportation as these facilities can be easily accessed through active transportation. Generally, this may increase utilization, and encourages physical activity for all ages.

A centralized community location also provides a local activity outing with something for everyone. These facilities also provide the opportunity to connect people who may not have interacted previously, and therefore create greater sense of community.









2. Public aquatics in the Comox Valley

2.1 Current Facilities

The three existing public pools are shown in Map One along with the 19 Wing Pool that has some capacity for public use. All four are located within population centres and all are located centrally within the region. All three public pools are located within the City of Courtenay.

Details on the current state of the three public facilities are included in Appendix A.













The current facilities are well situated within the communities they serve. As Map Three shows, population density of individuals living within a 1.5 km walking distance of the three public pools and the 19 Wing Fitness and Community Centre on the Canadian Forces Base. This distance is supported by the community survey which found the majority of Comox Valley residents (48%) thought it was acceptable to travel 10 – 20 minutes by walking to access a pool (see Chart Two).















Chart 2: Acceptable Travel Time to a Pool (by bike or foot)

Expanding the scope of access, Map Four shows, population density of individuals living within a 25 km driving distance of the three public pools and the 19 Wing Fitness and Community Centre on the Canadian Forces Base. This distance is supported by the community survey which found the majority of Comox Valley residents (65%) thought it was acceptable to travel 10 – 20 minutes by car or bus to access a pool (see Chart Three).











Map 4: Population Density within 25 KM Driving Proximity to a Pool





rcs



Chart 3: Acceptable Travel Time to a Pool (by car or bus)











2.2 Community Context

In 2022 the total population of the Comox Valley is estimated to be about 73,000. The most recent census results, summarized in Figure Five, show that the three urban areas and the K'ómoks First Nation reserve constitute about 66% of the total regional population, while the three Electoral Areas make up the remaining 34%.

Jurisdiction	Population in 2016	Population in 2021	Increase
Courtenay	25,639	28,420	10.8%
Comox	14,028	14,806	5.5%
Cumberland	3753	4447	18.5%
K'ómoks First	222	291	31.1%
Nation			
Electoral Area A	7,213	7,926	9.9%
Electoral Area B	7,095	7,392	4.2%
Electoral Area C	8,617	9,158	6.8%
Totals	66,567	72,440	8.9%

Figure 5: Population Summary in 2021 Census

As Figure Five shows, the Courtenay, K'ómoks First Nation and Electoral Area A are growing faster than the average while Electoral Areas B and C and Comox are growing more slowly. Please see Appendix B for a detailed over of demographic characteristics surrounding each of the three community aquatic facilities.

One aspect of the demographic makeup of the region that will be a significant factor in influencing leisure behaviour patterns is age. The current population of the region is older than average BC population makeup, and the population profile is estimated to continue to be older over the next ten years. This suggests more growth in the aquatic service categories of rehabilitation and therapy, fitness and recreation with a strong social dimension of each. It also suggests less growth in such categories of swim lessons, sport training, competitions, water orientation for toddlers and leadership training. Map Five shows the proximity to aquatic facilities of older adult residents.













The 2010 CVRD Regional Growth Strategy shows continued growth to an estimated 88,500 residents by 2030. So far, growth has progressed as estimated and is on track to match that estimate. If growth were to continue at an average 1.6% annually over the next two decades, as the Regional Growth Strategy suggests, and the last five years shows, the population could reach almost 100,000 by 2040. Across British Columbia and Canada, immigration a significant driver of population growth. Recent Census data (Statistic Canada, 2022) found that 80% of Canada's population growth was due to immigration. In the Comox Valley immigrant population accounts for 13% of the total regional population. Map Five shows recent immigrant population density within 1.5 km walking proximity to a pool. This is an important consideration as we know that New Canadians require unique supports to access services and become engaged in their new communities.





















2.3 Aquatic Trends

The following aquatic trends have been synthesized from aquatics strategies that the consultants have completed in BC over the past five to ten years. It is suggested that they will likely influence behaviour patterns in the Comox Valley in at least the short-term foreseeable future.

Equity and Inclusion

- Inclusion and accessibility are top of mind for most municipalities and considerations should be holistically engaged with throughout the entire lifespan of a facility and throughout program planning. Furthermore, considerations for accessibility and inclusion should begin from the moment a potential user considers going to a facility; from transportation to outdoor features and the entrance way to using the change rooms and then finally entering the swimming pool and engaging in activity.
- Pools often function as community hubs and important gathering places for those of all ages, cultures, and backgrounds.
- Recreation can contribute to improving the lives of people through the delivery of services and programs that are designed to address inequities and barriers to participation. Pools should incorporate abundant socialization areas, including specialized areas for Indigenous placemaking, community events and meetings, and unprogrammed open spaces for spontaneous socialization and participation.

Sustainability

- Modern facilities are being designed to be multiuse, blend indoor and outdoor environments, and capitalize on surrounding services. Benefits of designing multi-use spaces include the opportunity to create operational efficiencies, attract various users and procure multiple sources of revenue.
- Pools are unique given the high levels of energy and water needed to operate in northern climates such as Calgary's. Utilizing green building design standards (e.g., LEED) and incorporating leading edge technologies to reduce energy consumption, prevent heat loss, and lower water consumption can help to offset a pool's overall environmental impact. Renewable energy generation technologies can also be incorporated to generate electricity and to warm water.
- Many aquatic facilities in Canadian municipalities are nearing end-of-life and significant reinvestment is required to meet changing user expectations and provide quality environments for aquatic activities, preferring to go to newer or more feature-equipped facilities. Municipalities must also compete with the private sector in the form of hotels or resorts that may have newer or more attractive amenities.

Health and Safety

- Aquatic exercise is growing in popularity due to its low impact nature and health benefits.
- Swimming lessons are and will continue to be popular, particularly for children. However, aquatic literacy is increasingly being viewed as key to physical literacy overall and more users including adults are interested in skill development.
- Wellness and therapy users are one of the fastest growing user groups for pools.









• COVID-19 has and will continue to impact facility operations and, increasingly, public health is a fundamental consideration for facility design – as well as operations.

Participation Trends

- Youth activity preferences have been shifting over time towards individual pursuits and unstructured sporting activities like swimming.
- Increasing demand for drop-in activities to better accommodate youth and adults that lack interest or ability to participate in organized and/or competitive leagues.
- Aquatics generally will likely experience an increased demand in the coming years including swim lessons, therapeutic programs, individual fitness, spontaneous and unstructured activities.
- As adults are living longer and remaining active longer, demand may increase for programs and activities designed for older adults such as low-impact activities, skill development programs, and more casual, social-oriented drop-in programs – all of which aquatics can accommodate.
- Affordability has been and will continue to be an important barrier hindering participation rates in recreational pursuits.









2.4 Assessment of Current Supply and Demand for Aquatic Services

Demand is a function of the amount of people who swim and the frequency in which they swim. Essentially, demand is the number of desired swims over a specified timeframe in each area. If there is an overabundance of pool supply and no participation barriers, then it could be assumed that demand equals the number of actual swims. However, if pools appear to be in short supply, then demand is likely greater than the actual number of swims measured currently.

Supply is the total amount of swims that a pool, or a system of pools, can comfortably accommodate over a specified duration. The number of swims a pool can accommodate is impacted by the type of activity occurring within a facility. For example, recreational and leisure activities in a pool can accommodate more swimmers at a given time, than swim training activities conducted by a swim club.

There are many ways to determine the capacity of a pool. To determine an absolute maximum capacity, the amount of people that can legally fit into an aquatic's enclosure (i.e., per fire code) can be multiplied depending on how often the visitors turn over which could be based on an average visit duration.

While it is important to operate within the public health standards, it is not realistic to expect a public aquatic facility to reach its legal maximum potential visits based on building codes, especially since most activity types require adequate space for each participant. Therefore, an alternative approach to determining supply is assessing the 'practical' capacity of a pool.

This alternative method assumes that the number of swims an aquatic facility can practically accommodate depends on the amount of water surface area and water depth. While it makes sense intuitively that a large tank has a higher capacity than a smaller tank, water depth plays an important factor. More people can safely use a shallow tank than a deep tank of the same size, therefore some smaller tanks might have higher capacities than bigger tanks. As referred to earlier, public pools should provide a variety of activity types, each requiring different amounts of buffer space between participants. For water shallower than 5 feet, a multiplier of 65 annual swims per square foot of water surface is applied. For water 5 deep or deeper, 25 swims per square foot, per year is used. These figures have been developed and refined over the past four decades based on observations and operational experience and have proved useful to many municipalities across Canada. These figures account for appropriate programming balances between the seven activity types and assume a typical number of operating hours each week.

Determining Capacity

The capacity of the existing four indoor and outdoor aquatic facilities to deliver many or all of the nine categories of aquatic service relates to:

- * the amount of surface area of the existing pool tanks.
- * the depth of water in those pool tanks.
- * Programming and scheduling of the tanks (i.e., different uses can result in different amounts of use in the same water surface area and depth).
- * The total hours available each year.









Given a few standard assumptions about the above four bulleted criteria, which are noted in Appendix C, the total capacity for aquatic service can be measured by the formula noted below:

- * For water less than 5 feet deep, indoor pools have a capacity to deliver up to 65 swims per year for each square foot of water surface area.
- * For water more than 5 feet deep, indoor pools have a capacity to deliver up to 25 swims per year for each square foot of water surface area.
- * For outdoor pools, the capacity follows the above formulae, and is prorated for the reduced hours of operation annually.
- * For a pool with limited access by the general public, the capacity follows the above formulae, and are prorated for the reduced hours of availability.

Figure Six summarizes all existing physical capacity for aquatics in the Comox Valley. The totals have been calculated using previously noted proprietary formulae developed by the consultants over the past four decades of pool planning (see Appendix C) and are easily defensible.

Facility	Comox Valley Sports Centre	Comox Valley Aquatic Centre	Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool	19 Wing Base Pool (Public Access)	Totals
Total	272,000 swims per year	350,000 swims per year	37,828 swims per year	100,000 swims per year	759,828 swims per
					year

Figure 6: Summary of Existing Annual Capacity to Accommodate Aquatic Services

Characteristics of Current Aquatics Services and Spaces

To project future rates of indoor and outdoor swimming in the Comox Valley it is important to note that in Canada virtually all urban centres have swim rates in public pools in the range of 4 to 10 times the community's population, or 4-10 swims per capita, which breaks down to 4-8 swims per capita for indoor swims and 1-2 swims per capita for outdoor swims. Where a community falls within that range typically relates primarily to the number, quality and variety of indoor and outdoor pools that are accessible to the public and secondarily to the size of the community. In communities with fewer older facilities, not conducive to meeting some of the categories of aquatic service, they are usually in the lower half of that range. In communities with lots of excess capacity, all in high quality pools which offer a wide range of environments optimized to meet all categories of aquatic service, the community usually realizes swim rates in the upper half of that range. That said, the larger the urban centre, the fewer swims per capita it is likely to realize. The only occasions that the consultants have measured swim rates at or slightly above the nine (9) swims per capita level, has been in very small communities with high quality multi-use indoor and outdoor aquatic facilities. However, no markets larger than the Comox Valley region have exceeded the eight (8) annual swim per capita range and almost all of them are between four (4) and six (6) swims per capita.









As Figure Seven shows, the Comox Valley currently realizes about 3.9 swims per capita (assuming a total population of 72,000 in 2019). It summarizes all existing use of indoor and outdoor aquatics in Comox Valley in 2019, the last year before COVID changed behaviour patterns.

Use Type	Comox Valley Sports Centre Pool	Comox Valley Aquatic Centre	Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool	19 Wing Base Pool (public use portion)	Totals
Program	2000	40,712	1000	10,000	53,712
Drop-in	42,934	125,747	11,753	20,000	200,434
Rental	5056	11,496	2500	5000	24,052
Total	49,990	177,955	15,253	35,000	278,198

Figure 7: Current Documented Swims in Comox Valley in 2019

Figures Six and Seven show that the existing indoor pools are operating about 37% of capacity, which is less than optimal and relatively uneconomic as noted in a previous section. As usage starts to approach 100% of capacity, the quality of each swim can start to degrade due to crowding or conflicts between categories of use. Operating at about 85 to 95% of available capacity is an ideal situation. The outdoor pool operates about 40% of capacity, which is quite typical of outdoor pools in western Canada, but again, is less than optimal and uneconomic in terms of the net subsidy per swim.

Chart 4: Aquatic Activity in Indoor and Outdoor Facilities (Community Survey, 2022)











Figure Eight, takes the totals from Figure Seven and combines them with an analysis of pool operating schedules and discussions with pool staff. It provides a rough estimate of how the current swims break down by category of aquatic service. To support this Chart Four shows the self-identified participation by activity type as reported by the community survey.

Facility	Comox Valley Sports Centre Pool	Comox Valley Aquatic Centre	Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool	19 Wing Base Public Access to Pool	Totals	Percent of Use
Recreational Swimming	37,434	99,347	8085	10,000	154,866	56%
Skill Development	2000	34,312	489	10,000	46,801	17%
Fitness Swimming	4000	24,000	4159	10,000	42,159	15%
Sport Training	5056	11,496	2500	5000	24,052	9%
Special Events	100	6400	0	0	6,500	2%
Therapy and Rehab	1000	2000	0	0	3,000	1%
Leadership Training	400	400	20	0	820	0%
Total	49,990	177,955	15,253	35,000	278,198	100%

Figure 8: Summary of Estimated Existing Use of Aquatic Amenities

*Recreational swims at the Memorial Outdoor Pool include all swims associated with respite from summer heat category of service. And water orientation for toddlers is accommodated in the separate wading pool which is not included in these calculations.

Chart 5: Main Reasons For Participating In Aquatic Activities (Community Survey, 2022)











Projecting Demand for Aquatic Services

The totals in Figures Six and Eight show that residents of CVRD are currently swimming at a rate of about 3.9 swims per capita which is very much at the low end of what is anticipated. It shows there is lots of room for growth in the swim rate, and that there is existing capacity to accommodate it. The consultants suggest that if the quality and types of aquatic spaces were altered to focus more on current demand and need for aquatic service it would be prudent to assume that the current swim rate of 3.9 per capita per year could be easily raised to at least five (5) swims per capita per year. That means that there is currently latent demand for public indoor and outdoor swimming in the region for about 80,000 additional swims or an increase of about 29% in the short term.

Based on current trends in types of aquatic behaviour, most of these 80,000 additional aquatic uses will likely be in such categories as therapy/rehab, fitness, and recreational swimming.

Setting a target of at least five (5) swims per capita per year also suggests that as the population grows, there will be a need to accommodate roughly five (5) more swims per capita or about 5000 swims for every 1000 additional residents in the longer-term future. Based on the current capacity of all existing publicly available pools in the region, this suggests that the population would have to more than double before additional aquatics capacity will be needed. That will not happen in the next twenty years.

Conclusions About Supply vs Demand for Aquatic Services

The forgoing analysis shows quite clearly that the existing facilities are used to less than half the capacity for use and that this is an uneconomic level of use. There is clearly more capacity than is currently needed. However, residents have become accustomed to the luxury of having lots of unused capacity even if there are a few conflicts of use during prime times. So, the current issue is not one of need for more capacity. It is, instead, a need for different capacity. Changes to existing supply of aquatic services need to be focussed on several factors including:

- **Sustainability of capacity** Some spaces, like the Memorial Outdoor Pool are rapidly approaching the end of their functional lifespan and replacing the assets will be more cost effective than trying to invest in the current assets.
- Environmental Factors Reducing the environmental footprint of existing aquatic assets is likely worth the capital investment required to achieve environmental goals and will likely be necessary if those goals are to be achieved.
- **Operating Efficiencies** Some capital investment in existing assets will have the "trade off" of reducing the net public investment per swim. While public swims realize public goals and deliver public goods, there is no reason to waste limited available resources to achieve those goods.
- Significant Increases in the Quality of Public Swims As above, new or renovated spaces will enhance the quality of existing assets which will enhance the quality of swimming experience, which will in turn realize more public benefit.
- Small Increases in the Quantity of Public Swims Even though there is lots of excess capacity within the public pool system within the CVRD, the existing amenities don't meet all current needs. So, investment can be justified to realign some spaces to better focus on aquatic service categories where there is some latent demand.









Conclusion: The City of Courtenay and the Comox Valley Regional District should invest strategically to increase the quality, efficiency, and sustainability of existing aquatic assets.









3. Projected Demand for Aquatic Services

It is clear that there are currently about 278,000 public swims in four facilities within the regional market. However, as the previous section concludes, there is at least another 80,000 swims of latent demand currently in the market that better facilities would attract and accommodate. That means that total demand is currently about 360,000 swims or about five (5) swims per capita.

Over time this total will grow as the population grows and will equate to about five (5) swims per capita for the foreseeable future. By 2030, if the population reaches 88,500 as projected by the Regional Growth Strategy, the total would be about 440,000 swims. Ten years later, if growth were to continue at a rate of about 1.6% (the rate experienced over the past five years and the rate the Regional Growth Strategy anticipates) the population could be about 100,000 which would result in about 500,000 swims. This is still well short of available current capacity which is about 50% more than that. So, more capacity won't be required for at least two decades and likely much longer.

Key Finding

Additional capacity for aquatic services in the Comox Valley will not be required for at least two decades and likely much longer.









4. A Recommended Aquatic Strategy for the Comox Valley

The CVRD and the City of Courtenay have provided an excellent quality and quantity of aquatic services for all regional residents for decades. However, further investment in such services can and will enhance the services to an even higher level. The following elements of a vision for future provision of aquatic services is a basis for further planning.

- Indoor aquatic services shall be provided on a year-round basis in seven categories:
 - o Recreational swimming
 - Fitness swimming
 - Skill development (e.g., swim lessons)
 - Sport training and development
 - Special events (including swim meets)
 - Rehabilitation and therapy
 - Leadership development
- Outdoor aquatic services shall be provided during the summer months in nine categories:
 - All seven above, plus
 - Water orientation for toddlers
 - Respite from summer heat
- The balance of the service categories shall reflect local demographics and needs and will adapt to changes in both over time.
- A service level of five (5) indoor swims per capita and 0.5 swims per capita outdoors shall be adopted.
- Opportunities will be provided for every resident to learn to be safe in the water.
- All local and regional public entities and agencies will work collectively in an integrated fashion to ensure access by all residents to a range of aquatic services on an equitable basis.
- Further to the above point, proactive strategies will be pursued by all public entities and
 agencies to reduce barriers to accessing public aquatic services, including public policies
 associated with public transit, reduction or waving of user fees, operating policies that support
 cultural and ethnic differences and making all residents feeling welcome within the aquatic
 facilities.
- Capital investments in aquatic infrastructure will attempt to achieve the most environmentally sustainable service as practically possible.
- Operating funds allocated to aquatic service delivery will focus on providing the highest quality service and environmentally sustainable service as is practically possible.

Planning for long term investment in and operation of public aquatic facilities will require cooperation between all local public entities and agencies.









5. Infrastructure/Capital project options for the future

In order to make progress toward the Vision outlined in the previous section, some capital investment options are presented and evaluated.

The key parameters guiding the proposed options include, but are not limited to:

- No overall increase in water area/capacity is required
- Desire for enhanced leisure and wellness experiences
- New/better facilities will respond to some latent demand and increase annual swims marginally
- Alignment with universal accessibility requirements
- Alignment with broader environmental sustainability objectives and corporate climate action plans

5.1 Capital Options

Option 1 – Maintain Status Quo (\$16.5 M)

This option focuses on managing the ongoing, necessary maintenance items in each facility without any significant programming or design interventions. It assumes that the current standard of service provision (program offerings and quality of experience) will not be significantly altered. Some operational and energy efficiencies may be realized through optimization of mechanical systems that require replacement. The scope for this option will be determined by the facility condition assessment reports completed to date. This highest risk component of this approach will be the Outdoor Pool, which is nearing end of life and for which a "status quo" approach may not be realistic for much longer.

<u>Outdoor Pool (\$1.0M</u>) – some investment will be required to deal with the most pressing items identified in assessments completed to date. The replacement of the main drains and resolution of the leak issue should be a high priority.

There is little value in pursuing any remedial work to the change rooms (at the scale indicated by the RDH report) without substantially altering the layout to address significant issues with the layouts and address accessibility needs. If this facility is to be operated for the foreseeable future, this option should allow for a new change room facility to be constructed.

<u>Sports Centre (\$7.5M)</u> – based on reports completed to date, the primary focus would be on the replacement of any components nearing or at end of life (HVAC and roofing). Air handlers could be replaced with more efficient units, and insulation added to the roof during the re-roofing process which would help address the GHG reduction priority.

<u>Aquatic Centre (\$8.0M)</u> – the investment in this facility would be related to the items identified in the 2021 FCA report. Figure Nine illustrates the current site conditions at the Aquatic Centre.













Option 2 – Consolidation at Aquatic Centre Site

This option suggests that as the Outdoor Pool and Sports Centre reach end of life, they are replaced as an addition to the existing Aquatic Centre. At a high level, this option captures the following benefits:

- Operational efficiencies (staffing, energy systems)
- Capital cost efficiencies (shared change facilities and mechanical/support spaces)
- Opportunity to address emerging community priorities with a new facility design

It should be noted that there are ongoing capital maintenance items (as identified in the FCA reports and option 1) that will influence the costs of all Option 2 phases. Some of the FCA identified items may be included as part of one of the phases, others will need to be captured as a separate cost/project. This will need to be coordinated in future analysis to arrive at a true total cost for work required at this facility.

This option is broken down into three potential phases:

Option 2A – Wellness Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (\$ 25.8 M)

This option shows how the Aquatics infrastructure currently located at the Comox Valley Sports Centre can be replaced at the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre site by expanding the facility on that site. Figure Ten shows how that could happen.











Figure 10: Option 2A - Expansion of the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre

This option adds the current uses being accommodated at the Sports Centre to the Aquatic Centre site, with a distinct focus on the provision of wellness related amenities. This option would be located to the north of the existing centre. The concept study will determine how feasible it is to consolidate the sports centre uses in this location. It would include the following:

- Therapy/Teach Pool (approx. 15mx15m) suitable for aquafit, therapy and rehab uses, lesson programming etc. Water temperature would be warmer than the 25m pool, and cooler than the leisure pool.
- Additional sauna and steam rooms to build out a more comprehensive wellness zone.
- Addition of a second, larger hot pool. This would allow the two hot pools to be run at different temperatures.
- Additional deck lounging space
- Modest expansion to existing pool mechanical space for additional filters and boilers
- Potential reconfiguration and expansion of existing change rooms to accommodate the increased bather load









These amenities would create a distinct wellness zone that would complement the existing leisure focus of the centre and take some of the pressure off the main 25m tank, allowing it to support competitive and fitness uses.

This option would serve some currently unmet need in the community and would result in an estimated 10-20 percent increase in the total number of swims each year in the short term and would provide sufficient capacity to accommodate total population growth in the region for the next several decades. It would also increase the quality of many or most of the current swim visits.

Option 2B – Outdoor Pool Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (\$12 M)

This option would relocate and replace the existing Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool at the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre site. Figure Eleven shows one option for this project.



Figure 11: Option 2B – Outdoor Pool Added to the Aquatic Centre

This option would place the existing Courtenay and District Memorial Outdoor Pool with a new outdoor pool on the parking area to the north of the Aquatic Centre building where it would be accessed through the building's control zone. It would include the following:

• Freeform outdoor leisure pool with water features, zero entry and enough consistent 900mm water depth to support some swim lesson programming, fitness swimming and swim training. Equivalent water area to current outdoor pool.









- Potential reconfiguration and expansion of existing change rooms to accommodate the increased bather load.
- Modest expansion to existing pool mechanical space for additional filters and boilers
- Shade structure, picnic tables etc.
- Spray pad

The result of this option would be a slight increase in the total number of outdoor swims due to an increased quality of swim experience, but because outdoor swimming represents such a small proportion of total swims, the overall total number of swims would increase a very small amount. Therefore, the main benefits of this option would be increased quality of outdoor swimming, efficiencies in operation, environmental benefits (e.g. energy savings) and sustainability.

Option 2C – Wellness and Outdoor Pool Expansion at Comox Valley Aquatic Centre (\$35 M) In this option both the outdoor pool and the indoor pool at the Sports Centre would be relocated and replaced on the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre site. Figure Twelve shows how this could happen.





The combined wellness provisions mentioned in option 2A, and the outdoor pool mentioned in option 2B would be added to the Aquatic Centre site in this option. The additional functions would be located to north of the existing facility and would require reconfiguration of the current parking and access road.









The concept study will determine how feasible it is to consolidate both the Sports Centre pool and the existing outdoor pool uses in this location. It would include the following:

- Therapy/Teach Pool (approx. 15mx15m) suitable for aquafit, therapy and rehab uses, lesson programming etc. Water temperature would be warmer than the 25m pool, and cooler than the leisure pool.
- Freeform outdoor leisure pool with water features, zero entry and enough consistent 900mm water depth to support some swim lesson programming. Equivalent water area to current outdoor pool.
- Shade structure, picnic tables etc.
- Spray pad
- Additional sauna and steam rooms to build out a more comprehensive wellness zone.
- Addition of a second, larger hot pool. This would allow the two hot pools to be run at different temperatures.
- Additional deck lounging space
- Modest expansion to existing pool mechanical space for additional filters and boilers
- Potential reconfiguration and expansion of existing change rooms to accommodate the increased bather load

Depending on whether both indoor and outdoor components of the project proceed at the same time, and if not, which might proceed first, there are other options for location of the indoor and outdoor phases of the work. Another option is illustrated in Figure Thirteen.



Figure 13: Alternative Siting of Indoor and Outdoor Components of the Project









The above sketch is an alternate layout for the wellness expansion and outdoor pool on the Aquatic Center site. It has the benefit of not reducing the parking as much until the start of the wellness center construction. Although it helps with phasing, this option is slightly less efficient from a life-guarding standpoint. It also removes the possibility of having a second entrance to the outdoor pool if there is a desire to operate it separately.

Beyond the programmatic benefits and synergies, both Option 2A, 2B and 2C would significantly improve accessibility, and would also lower the overall GHG's by taking two very carbon intensive buildings out of circulation and replacing them with the shared efficiency of a centralized mechanical plant.

Option 3 – Full Build Out at New Site (\$87.9 M)

Recognizing that the current building inventory is all older than 20 years, the option of consolidating all the uses at a new site in a new single facility should be considered. This could potentially address the land ownership challenges of the existing sites. It would also allow for the building to meet current codes, allow for significant reduction in GHG footprint and optimized for programming desires.

Assuming that no further capacity is required, this option could include the following:

- Main Tank (8 or 10L x 25M)
- Leisure Pool with lazy river, tot's zone, zero entry, spray features
- Waterslide
- Adult Hot pool
- Family Hot pool
- Universal change rooms
- Sauna and Steam rooms
- Pool Support Spaces
- Other potential dry floor uses (multi-purpose, fitness etc.)
- Outdoor Pool with slide and diving board

A completely new complex, optimized to emerging needs, would result in a significant increase to the quality of all existing swims and would result in an estimated 10-20 percent increase in the total number of annual swims in the short term. It would also have sufficient capacity to accommodate additional swims each year as the population grows over the next several decades.

It is important to understand the capital cost estimate for this option does not include any land costs and a site has not been identified.

Option 4 – Outdoor Pool at New Site (\$16.1 M)

This option proposes a new facility built on a different site to replace the existing Outdoor Pool, which has reached the end of its service life. A new build on a new site would comply with the City's Flood Management Strategy and provide an opportunity to reallocate amenities to meet the needs of the emergent communities. Additionally, it would enable the building to comply with current regulations and standards, significantly reduce its carbon footprint, and improve the universal accessibility to the facility. Without a capacity increase, the new facility will have a pool tank and deck space size that matches the existing outdoor pool.









A new pool would result in a slight increase in the total number of outdoor swims due to an increased quality of swim experience, but because outdoor swimming represents such a small proportion of total swims, the overall total number of swims would increase a very small amount.

It is important to understand the capital cost estimate for this option does not include any land costs and a site has not been identified.

Option 4B – New Outdoor Pool at Existing Site (\$18.2 M)

This option proposes a new facility to replace the existing Courtenay Outdoor Pool on the same site. This option carries all of the same programming objectives as Option 4 (ie. matching the water area and amenities of the existing pool), but has some unique needs with respect to site considerations:

- Because the site is within the floodplain, current bylaws would require it to be built 1.7m higher than the existing pool. The ramps and stairs required to access this grade change would present significant disruption to the existing site connections (parking, spray pad, trails, community centre connection etc.)
- Demolition of the existing pool increases the cost of the site, and residents would lose access to the pool for at least one season unless additional site area could be made available for the new pool directly adjacent.
- As with Option 4, a new pool on this site would include all of the benefits of a modern facility built to current codes and best practices, including GHG reduction and accessibility objectives.
- The capital cost of Option 4B is higher than 4 to account for floodplain mitigation and demolition of the existing building. It has been assumed that a new parking lot is not required for Option 4B.

GHG Reduction Potential

The replacement of older buildings with newer buildings allows opportunities to substantially reduce operational GHG emissions, because newer buildings can incorporate more thermally effective envelopes, as well as less fossil fuel intensive, or fossil fuel free mechanical systems. Standalone new buildings (such as Option 4) could reduce operation GHG emissions by as much as 75-100%, driven in part by codes and policies that will make this a requirement of new construction in the very near future. For renovation or an addition to an existing building (Options 2A/B/C), the potential to reduce operation GHG's ranges closer to 25-75% and is highly dependent on the scope of mechanical equipment and envelope replacement. It is also important to note that the GHG reductions noted above are only realized at a net corporate level (across the entire building portfolio of the town or Regional District) if the existing building stock they are replacing is taken out of circulation. If not, then these options will still add to the overall corporate GHG profile, albeit with much more efficient carbon footprints.







5.2 Summary of Capital Options

Figure Fourteen provides a summary of the capital options presented above noting several key factors that will influence the analysis of options to inform decision making.



Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
Option 1: Status Quo	\$16.5M	Recreation Commission Goals: Partnerships between jurisdictions CVRD Strategic Priorities Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Invest in key relationships	None	No	None	None	No	Perpetuates current situation for 10 years or more
Option 2a: Replace Sports Centre Pool at Aquatic Centre site	\$25.8M	Recreation Commission Goals: • Asset Management • Connectivity CVRD Strategic Priorities • Fiscal Responsibility • Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship	More	More	Some	Some	No	Enhanced focus on fitness, wellness, overall quality of indoor aquatics and efficiencies of operation









Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
Option 2b: Replace Outdoor Pool at Aquatic Centre Site	\$12M	 Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Invest in key relationships Invest in natural and built environment Reasoned land use planning Recreation Commission Goals: Asset Management Partnerships between Jurisdictions Connectivity CVRD Strategic Priorities Fiscal Responsibility Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Community Partnerships City of Courtenay 	Some	Some	More	Some	No	The City would relinquish control of the outdoor pool to the CVRD which would operate and fund it.
		Strategies PrioritiesInvest in key relationships						









Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
		 Invest in natural and built environment Reasoned land use planning 						
Option 2c: Centralize All Pools at Aquatic Centre site	\$35M	Recreation Commission Goals: Asset Management Partnerships between jurisdictions Connectivity Accessibility Improve efficiencies Climate Action CVRD Strategic Priorities Fiscal Responsibility Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Organizational and governance excellence	Most	Most	More	More	No	Capital cost savings of \$2M if 2a and 2b are done as one project with the benefits of both









Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
		 Invest in key relationships Invest in natural and built environment Reasoned land use planning 						
Option 3: New indoor outdoor pool complex on a new site	\$87.9M	Recreation Commission Goals: Asset Management Connectivity Accessibility Maragement Accessibility Improve efficiencies Climate Action CVRD Strategic Priorities Fiscal Responsibility Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Organizational and governance excellence Invest in key relationships	Most	Most	Most	Most	Yes	Doesn't take advantage of Aquatics Centre value and requires complexity of a new site









Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
		 Invest in natural and built environment Reasoned land use planning 						
Option 4: New outdoor pool on its own new site	\$16.1M	Recreation Commission Goals: Asset Management Connectivity Accessibility CVRD Strategic Priorities Fiscal Responsibility Climate Crisis and Environmental Stewardship Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Organizational and governance excellence Invest in key relationships Invest in natural and built environment Reasoned land use planning	Some	Some	Some	Some	Yes	Increased capital cost over option 2b, complexity of finding an appropriate new site and no operating efficiencies or economies of scale









Option	Class D Capital Cost Est.	Alignment with Strategic Foundations	Increased Operating Efficiencies	Reduced Environmental Footprint	Increased Quality of Service	Enhanced Accessibility of Aquatics Service	New Site Purchase Required	Comments
Option 4b: A new outdoor pool at the existing site	\$18.2M	Recreation Commission Goals: Asset Management Accessibility CVRD Strategic Priorities Fiscal Responsibility Community Partnerships City of Courtenay Strategies Priorities Organizational and governance excellence	More	No	More	Some	No	Increased capital cost over option 4, with complexity of complying with the floodplain bylaws, and no operating efficiencies or economies of scale.





rcs



6. Decision making framework to Prioritize Options

An objective system for evaluating the options in the previous section is required in order to make rational and defensible decisions about how to proceed.

6.1 Principles and Evaluation Criteria

In order to evaluate the various options and prioritize them, five principles have been selected and within the five, a total of 12 evaluation criteria determined. Each will affect the desirability of the option to proceed relative to the other options. Because the 12 criteria don't necessarily influence priority weighting the same degree, a weight has been assigned to each between 1 and 5.

Criteria which have been assigned lower weights will have less influence over the final outcome and criteria with a higher weight will influence the prioritization process to a greater degree. The principles, criteria and weights provide a framework within which priority scoring can be accomplished. That framework is summarized in Figure Fifteen.

Criteria	Description			Criteria Weighting	
		3 Points	2 Point	1 Point	(1-5)
Principle #1:	Community Health	and Wellbeing			
Proximity to public facilities and spaces	The proximity of the project to public indoor facilities and outdoor spaces (e.g. schools, hospitals, parks), especially those that are complementary to the facility.	The project is within walking distance (<800m) to complementary public facilities and spaces.	The site is nearby (800m- 1500m) complementary public facilities and spaces but not within walking distance.	The site is not nearby complementary public facilities and spaces (>1500m)	1
Principle #2:	Environmental Sus	tainability and Mit	igation		
Climate Impact	The degree to which the project will support reducing the environmental impact and emissions related to aquatic facilities.	The project is expected to reduce environmental impact and reduce emissions.	The project is moderately expected to reduce environmental impact and reduce emissions.	The project is not expected to reduce environmental impact and reduce emissions.	2

Figure 15: Summary of the Prioritization Framework









Criteria	Description			Criteria	
		3 Points	2 Point	1 Point	(1-5)
Flood Plain	The location of the project in relation to identified flood plain areas.	The project is not located in a flood plain area.	The project is located in proximity to a flood plain area.	The project is located in a flood plain area.	2
Principle #3:	Accessible and Incl	usive			
Equitable distribution and access	The degree to which the project is accessible to all regional residents and contributes to an equitable provision of services and facilities within the Region.	The project is universally accessible and contributes to the equitable provision of services in the Region.	The project is universally accessible or contributes to the equitable provision of services in the Region.	The project is not universally accessible, nor does it contribute to the equitable provision of services in the Region.	2
Proximity to public transit	The proximity of the project to public transit opportunities.	The project will be served by a public transit route.	The project is within walking distance (<800m) to a public transit route.	The project is not accessible via public transit	3
Principle #4:	Service Excellence	Γ	Γ	Γ	
Service quality	The degree to which the project will enhance quality aquatic services in the Region.	The project has a high likelihood of enhancing aquatic services in the Region.	The project has a moderate likelihood of enhancing aquatic services in the Region.	The project has a limited likelihood of enhancing aquatic services in the Region.	4
Supports Regional Growth	The degree to which the project will accommodate future population growth in the region.	The project will fully accommodate future utilization demand levels.	The project has a moderate likelihood of accommodating future utilization demand levels.	The project has a limited likelihood of accommodating future utilization demand levels.	2
Principle #5:	Financial Responsil	bility / Sustainabili	t y	The second second	
Project capital costs	which the project capital costs will impact	have an overall low-cost impact	he project will have an overall moderate cost impact to the	have an overall have an overall high-cost impact	5









Criteria	Description			Criteria	
		3 Points	2 Point	1 Point	(1-5)
	the CVRD and City of Courtenay.	to the CVRD and the City.	CVRD and the City.	to the CVRD and the City.	
Operating costs	The degree to which the project will increase the efficiency of operating investments in aquatic services	The project will appreciably increase operating efficiency in terms of net public subsidy per visit	The project will have a limited increase in operating efficiency	The project will have little or no increase in operating efficiency	3
Asset life expectancy	The anticipate life expectancy of the project.	The project will have a significant life span.	The project will have a moderate life span.	The project will have a limited life span.	3
Future expansion capability	The degree to which the project will accommodate future expansion and growth of recreation, parks, and culture facilities (as well as other public amenities).	The project will accommodate future indoor and outdoor RPC amenities as well as other public services.	The proposed site is large enough or the project design will accommodate future indoor and outdoor RPC amenities.	The project will not accommodate any future indoor and outdoor RPC amenities or other public services.	1
Land ownership	Securing a site or sites for the project could become a significant factor in making a decision about the project	The project will be on existing publicly owned land.	The project will be on land not publicly owned, but tenure is secure	The cost of securing a new site for the project will be difficult and expensive	2









6.2 Scoring the Options and Calculating Priority Scores

With the framework complete the scoring of each option against each criterion can be done. When the scores (on a three-point scale) are complete and multiplied by the weight assigned to each criterion, the options with the highest scores will be the highest priority options when all criteria are considered and combined with the proper amount of influence of each incorporated into the score. The scoring details are included in Appendix D. The final priority scores are shown in Figure Sixteen.

Figure 16: Priority Scores Within the Prioritization Framework

Project Options	Prioritization Scores
Option 1 – Status Quo for the Outdoor Pool	51
Option 1 – Status Quo for the Indoor Pool	62
Option 2a – Central Indoor Pools on Aquatic Centre Site	76
Option 2b – Add New Outdoor Pool on Aquatic Centre Site	78
Option 2c Central Indoor and Outdoor on Aquatics Centre Site	82
Option 3 – New Indoor/Outdoor Pool Complex on a New Site	76
Option 4 – New Outdoor Pool on a New Site	65
Option 4b – New Outdoor Pool at Existing Site	56









7. Recommendations

Because decisions about the future of indoor aquatics options will be made by a different jurisdiction than those made about outdoor aquatic options, the recommendations for indoor and outdoor pool options have been separated initially and then combined.

Recommendation #1 – Indoor Pool Options

Indoor pool options include Options 1,2a,2c and 3. Within those options, the one with the **highest priority score is Option 2A.** Therefore, it is recommended that the CVRD phase out the operation of the indoor pool at the Comox Valley Sports Centre once it has been replaced with a new indoor pool with comparable but refined capacity added to the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre. This option, referred to as Option 2A in the previous section, represents the most cost-effective option for delivering all indoor aquatic services in the long-term future and has the added benefit of being the most accessible option and the most environmentally sustainable option for indoor pools in the region. It also increases the quality of indoor swimming on average and will increase the total number of swims in the region.

Recommendation #2 – Outdoor Pool Options

Outdoor pool options include Options 1, 2b and 4. Among these options, the one with the **highest priority score is Option 2B**. Therefore, it is recommended that the City of Courtenay phase out the existing Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool once a replacement outdoor pool has been completed at the site of and added to the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre and work with the CVRD on a management model which will integrate the operation of the new outdoor pool with the indoor aquatic infrastructure on that site. While there are options for where a replacement outdoor pool might be located, none are more central to the regional user population or as cost effective as this option. It is the most cost-effective option for delivering outdoor aquatic services to the growing regional market and has the added benefit of being the most accessible and environmentally sustainable option for outdoor pools in the region. It will also increase both the quality and quantity of outdoor swimming in the region.

Recommendation #3 – Indoor and Outdoor Pool Options

When recommendations 1 and 2 are combined, the **highest priority score is Option 2C**, which accounts for the synergistic benefits of combining indoor and outdoor pool services with an even higher score than options 2A or 2B. Therefore, it is recommended that Option 2C be confirmed by both the City of Courtenay and the Comox Valley Regional District and that they work cooperatively on the timing and implementation of this long-term strategy. This option confers the most benefits both parties, to all residents of the region and to the environment.









8. Implementing the Strategy

If the CVRD and the City adopt this strategy and agree on Option 2C, the following should be considered as a means of implementing the project.

- 1. The CVRD would initially secure exclusive access to the site on which the Comox Valley Aquatics Centre now occupies for a long term sufficient to justify significant investment of public funds.
- 2. The two parties would then collaborate on the timing of elements of the site development. If both the indoor replacement pool and the outdoor replacement pool are not to be developed at the same time, agreement is needed on which is to proceed first and when. It is assumed that since the replacement of the outdoor pool is more urgent, it will proceed either by itself or in conjunction with the indoor pool portion of the project.
- 3. The two parties then need to come to agreement on which jurisdiction will "own" and take a leadership position on the outdoor pool portion of the project. While it is possible that the City may wish to continue to "own" and operate the facility, many of the benefits of integration of indoor and outdoor aquatic infrastructure assume a single owner/operator; that being the CVRD.
- 4. The next step would be to agree on the capital financing of the project. The two options would be for the City to provide the capital or the CVRD to provide the capital. Even if the CVRD would lead the project and operate the outdoor pool as regional service, the fact that it is replacing a City asset may suggest that the City would assume all or most of the financing of the capital. The other alternative would be for the CVRD to assume the responsibility for the capital financing.
- 5. Before committing to proceeding with the project, it will also be important to develop a complete operating financing scenario which translates to any changes in the tax levies required to operate the project.
- 6. Once the above steps have been completed, the next step would be to commission a detailed design for the site and a more current and definitive capital cost estimate.
- 7. The next step would be to agree on when the project should proceed, and how the construction would be managed.

If, in the above scenario, one or two referenda are required to support the capital financing of elements of the project, the most likely timing of said referenda would be immediately after step 5 is complete, as the information in the first five steps is required for voters to make an informed decision on any referendum put before them.

If, for any reason, the City wishes to proceed separately with its outdoor pool replacement (i.e., Option 4, the project might proceed along different lines.

- 1. The City would identify and secure a site for the outdoor pool replacement which is separate from the Comox Valley Aquatic Centre site.
- 2. It would then commission a design and more definitive capital cost estimate.









- 3. After that, it would determine when and how it wishes to proceed with the project on its own or negotiate with the CVRD to make the replacement facility a regional service.
- 4. Meanwhile, the CVRD, if it agrees to replace the aging Sports Centre pool in conjunction with the Aquatic Centre site (i.e., Option 2A), it will proceed independent of the City with steps 1, 5, 6 and 7 above and the timing of the indoor pool project might not be as urgent as in the first scenario above.

Independent of which approach is taken, the replacement of the outdoor pool is more likely the more urgent part of any implementation strategy.









Glossary

Demand for Aquatics Services – All demand for all seven categories of indoor aquatics services and all nine categories of outdoor aquatic services includes current swims (by definition, all existing swims in public indoor and outdoor pools are a partial demonstration of demand) plus frustrated demand (where demand has been registered but not fulfilled due to a capacity constraint, as evidenced by swim lesson registration waitlists and requests for swim lane rental that cannot be fulfilled) and latent demand (where, if you build a new facility, some might be motivated to try it out even if they haven't registered their demand beforehand).

Capacity for Delivering Aquatics Services – Calculated using proprietary formulae, this is the physical capacity of an indoor pool or outdoor pools to accommodate demand. Assumptions about how the capacity is operated are usually used to qualify an estimate of what the capacity is. For example, if a pool is primarily used as a recreational facility, the capacity may increase. If it is primarily used as fitness facility or sport training facility, the capacity may be reduced. The capacity calculations used in this report assume a typical mix of uses in all categories of aquatic service.

Collaborator – internal actors / partners (municipal government administration and Council) who support the delivery of aquatic services. This is an alternative term for stakeholder to be respectful to Indigenous peoples.

Contributor – external community groups / actors / partners who support the delivery of aquatic services. This is an alternative term for stakeholder to be respectful to Indigenous peoples.

Swim Rates – This is a measure of the total swims in a given population expressed as a number of swims per capita. If, for example, the swim rate remains constant, and the population grows, the total number of swims will increase. If the swim rate increases over time, the total number of swims would increase faster than the rate of population growth.

Utilization Rates – Total use of indoor and outdoor pools in swims can be expressed as a percentage of available capacity. If demand exceeds capacity for indoor swimming in some or all of the aquatic service categories, it can be a justification for adding more capacity.









Appendix A – Current State of Community Pools

The following is a current state analysis of Comox Valley Community Pools as compiled by hmca.

Courtenay Outdoor Pool

This facility was built in 1949 and is the oldest of the three buildings. The most recent facility condition assessment (completed by Carscadden et. al in 2015) indicated no remaining life or value. It identified deficiencies that would need to be addressed over a 10-year horizon to maintain current operations. It is not clear how many of these have been addressed to date. A minimum investment of about \$1.0M would be needed over the next 10 years to keep the facility going (note that this doesn't speak to the main drain deterioration or envelope issues identified after this report).

In 2017 a building enclosure review was commissioned that recommended the replacement of all interior walls (significantly deteriorated) and replacement of the external cladding and sheathing. Recent work on the facility has included: pool boiler upgrade, repair work to change rooms and pool capital upgrades.

During our walk through, it was noted that significant water loss was occurring from a suspected leak in the main drain. A 2018 GPR study found no significant voids under the deck or the pool tank.

A Rick Hansen Assessment completed in 2018 applied a score of 47%, which indicates that basic accessibility needs are not being met.

At face value, these assessments indicate that there is little remaining life or capital value in these assets. It should be noted however, that the facility is fully operational and continues to provide outdoor swim experiences for users. Outdoor pools are often well-loved by their communities, and this pool appears to be no exception.

Comox Valley Sports Centre

This facility was constructed in 1973. It contains a 25m tank and a large, more recently added hot pool. It appears that the primary programming use here focuses on swimming for fitness, aquasize and competitive training.

A FCA report by AECOM commissioned in 2017 provided a score of 7%, indicating that the building was in fair shape. The primary area of concern identified by the FCA was the roofing and air handling equipment, both of which are end of life. Total value of estimated required investment over a 20-year horizon is approximately \$7.5M.

Recent upgrades have enhanced the accessibility, including lifts into each pool tank. An energy recovery project was completed in 2016/2017.

General observation during our site visit supported this assessment, and the facility has been very well maintained for its age.









Comox Valley Aquatic Centre

This building was completed in 1998. It contains a 25m pool, leisure/wave pool, waterslides, hot pool and sauna and steam room. It is the newest facility in the inventory, with a strong focus on leisure related amenities.

The 2017 FCA by AECOM provided a score of 4%, indicating that the facility is in good condition. At that time the report identified a required investment over 20 years of \$2.25M. A subsequent report by Faulkner Browns Architect in 2021 indicated that a total investment of \$8.0M would be required over the next 10 years to deal with items reaching end of life. Most of these costs were attributed to upgrading the filter plant and replacing the roof. For purposes of this study, the higher value of \$8.0M has been assumed.









Appendix B – Community Demographics



Figure 17: Demographics Surrounding Comox Valley Sports Centre Pool

































Appendix C – Calculating Annual Capacity of Pools in the Comox Valley

There are three types of Definitions of Annual Capacity for Swimming.

- The first is legal capacity and that is calculated by a provincially mandated formula. No pool has ever been able to achieve this instantaneous capacity on a year-round basis.
- There is theoretical physical capacity, which assumes infinite demand, and a lineup of users waiting at the door whenever the pool is open, ready to enter as soon as someone leaves the facility. No pool has ever been able to reach this threshold either. It would be similar to the legal capacity above.
- There is practical capacity which is achievable in isolated cases where a community resist building additional capacity as it grows, and demand exceeds available capacity. This results in a lower estimate of capacity than the previous two. Very few pools achieve this threshold, but because some have, it allows for calculations to be made about what is possible and practical. Even with this definition, there will be off peak periods where additional use could theoretically be accommodated, but never is because demand is not constant during all opening hours.

This appendix provides details of the third type of capacity above and is based on experience working in hundreds of pools over the past forty years in Canada. It is a proprietary calculation and assumes the following:

- Applies only to indoor aquatic facilities (outdoor pools serve a slightly different market and has different characteristics and assumptions).
- An operating format of approximately 5000 hours per year, which is the average that existing pools are available for use.
- Only using the main tanks in a pool enclosure (not whirlpools or hot tubs).
- Charging fees which don't create a significant barrier to use.
- And best attempts are made to meet all of the categories of aquatic service.

The formula is quite simple and is listed below:

- for water surface area which has water less than 5 feet deep, a total of 60 swims per year per sq. ft. can be realized.
- for water surface which has water 5 ft. or more of depth, a total of 25 swims per year per sq. ft. can be realized.
- so, we add the two above.

According to the above formula, the current capacity for annual indoor swims in the Comox Valley is about 760,000 swims as noted in the calculations below.

Comox Valley Sports Centre (pool)

Six (6) lane 25 m lap pool (4 ft - 12 ft) with a total of 595 sq. m. or 6404.5 sq. ft. of which 50% of 3202.2 sq. ft. is deep water and the remaining 3202.3 sq. ft. is shallow.

The separate hot tub is not included in the calculations for capacity as users of this space are not additive to the users of the main tank.









So, the shallow water has annual capacity of (3202.3 sq. ft. x 60) 192,138 swims per year and the deep water has (3202.2 sq. ft. x 25) 80,055 swims for a total of 272,193. Therefore, the total capacity is about 272,193 swims; which can be rounded to 272,000 swims per year.

Comox Valley Aquatics Centre

8 lane 25 m lap pool (3 ft – 12 ft) totals about 413 sq. m. or about 4445.5 sq. ft. of water surface area, of which 50% is shallow (i.e., 2222.8 sq. ft.) and 50% is deep water (i.e., 2222.7 sq. ft) The leisure pool totals about 263 sq. m. or about 2830.9 sq. ft. of water surface area of which 10% is deep water ($1 \times 2830.9 = 283.1$ sq. ft.) and 90% is shallow water (i.e., $.9 \times 2830.9 = 2547.8$ sq. ft.). There is also a hot tub which doesn't get included in the capacity calculation.

So, the deep water in the main tank and the leisure tank has annual capacity for $(2222.8 + 283.1 = 2505.9 \text{ sq. ft. } x 25 \text{ swims per sq. ft. } =) 62,648 \text{ annual swims and the shallow water has } (2222.7 + 2547.8 \text{ sq. ft. } x 60 \text{ swims per sq. ft. } =) 286,230 \text{ swims per year. Therefore, the total capacity for both shallow and deep water is about 348,878 swims per year; say 350,000 swims per year.$

Courtenay Memorial Outdoor Pool

6 lane 30.5m lap pool (3.5 ft – 12 ft) with stairway entrance and wheelchair accessible lift which totals 4015.7 sq. ft. of which 1284.6 sq. ft. is deep and 2731.1 sq. ft. is shallow There is also a 1200 sq. ft. shallow water wading pool which will not be included in the capacity calculations.

If the pool were indoors, operating 100 hours per week, the capacity would be calculated at 60 swims per square foot of shallow water (i.e., $60 \times 2731.1 = 163,866$ swims per year) and 25 swims per square foot of deep water (i.e., $25 \times 1284.6 = 32,115$ swims per year) and the total capacity would be 195,988 swims per year. However, the pool is only open an average of 103 days per year so that initial calculation is discounted by 72% (.28 x 195,988 = 55,504) and further discounted because the pool is only open for an average of 76 hours per week (i.e., $.76 \times 55,304=42,031$ swims per year) and further discounted by 10% for weather related non-use (i.e., $.9 \times 42,031$) for a net annual capacity of about 37,828 swims in an average year.

19 Wing Base Pool

No calculations are available as much of the capacity is reserved for military designated uses, however, it is assumed that there are about 100,000 swims of capacity available for public use.









Appendix D – Scoring of Project Options

The black scores (S) on a scale of 1 to 3 (see Figure Fifteen for how scores are calculated) and multiplied by the weighting on a scale of 1 to 5 to render a weighted score (WS) which is in red in the table below. All the weighted scores are added to get a composite weighted priority score at the bottom on the table.

Figure 20: Facility Option Scoring

Criteria	Criteria Weight ing	1 Outdoor Pool Status Quo		1 Indoor Pool Status Quo		2a Centralize indoor pools		2b Add Outdoor Pool		2c Complete Centralization		3 New Complex		4 New Outdoor Pool		4b New Outdo or Pool, Existin g Site	
		S	WS	S	WS	S	wc	S	wc	S	WS	S	WS	S	WS	S	W S
Proximi	1																
ty to																	
public																	
facilitie																	
s and			-	_	-		-		-			_		-	-		-
spaces	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	3	2	2	2	2
Climat	2																
e Imnact		1	2	1	2	3	6	3	6	3	6	3	6	2	1	2	Л
Flood	2	-	2	1	2	5	0	5	0	5		5	0	2	-	2	-
Plain	-	1	2	3	6	1	2	3	6	3	6	3	6	3	6	1	2
Equitab	2	_			-	_	_		-								_
le																	
distrib																	
ution																	
and																	
access		2	4	2	4	3	6	2	4	3	6	3	6	2	4	2	4
Proximi	3																
ty to																	
public			-		-							_		-			_
transit		2	6	1	3	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9	2	6
Service	4	1	4	2	0	2	10	2	12	2	10	2	12	2	12	2	10
Suppor	2	L	4	2	0	5	12	5	12	5	12	5	12	5	12	5	12
ts	_																
regiona																	
growth		1	2	1	2	2	4	2	4	3	6	3	6	3	6	1	2
Project	5									_							
capital																	
costs		3	15	3	15	2	10	2	10	2	10	1	5	1	5	1	5









Criteria	Criteria Weight ing	1 Outdoor Pool Status Quo		1 Indoor Pool Status Quo		2a Centralize indoor pools		2b Add Outdoor Pool		2c Complete Centralization		3 New Complex		4 New Outdoor Pool		4b New Outdo or Pool, Existin g Site	
		S	WS	S	WS	S	wc	S	wc	S	WS	S	WS	S	WS	S	W S
Operat	3																
ing			-	_				-				-			-		
costs		1	3	2	6	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9	1	3	1	3
Asset life expect	3																
ancy		1	3	2	6	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9	3	9
Future expans ion capabil	1																
ity		2	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	3	1	1
Land owners hip	2	3	6	3	6	3	6	3	6	3	6	1	2	1	2	3	6
Total Weighted		-		-	-												
Score			51		62		76		78		82		76		65		56





rcs

